
TOWN OF 

NEW LONDON, NEW HAMPSHIRE 
375 MAIN STREET • NEW LONDON, NH  03257 • WWW.NL-NH.COM 

 
 

 

 

CITIZENS’ ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING MINUTES 
APRIL 26, 2008 

 
PRESENT: Mark Kaplan (Selectman), Larry Ballin (Selectman), Jessie Levine (Town Administrator), 
Cindy Adie, Peter Bianchi, Barbara Brown, Steve Landrigan, Ann Loeffler, Gary Markoff, Signe Linville, 
Noel Weinstein, Jack Harrod,  Dave Harrison, Mike Doheny, Rip Cross, Vahan Sarkisian, Rick 
Anderson, Dave Payne, Karen Hoglund, Joseph McCarthy, Howard Hoke, Bob MacMichael. 
 
Mark Kaplan opened the meeting at 7:30 a.m., and the Committee discussed ten topics this morning. 
 
Joint Board-Assessing:  He reminded the Committee that New London has a tri-town arrangement with 
Newbury and Sunapee for assessing services, and per their intermunicipal agreement, the Towns have 
formed this Joint Board consisting of seven members: the three Town managers, two residents and two 
Selectmen.  The residents and Selectmen serve terms of two years and fill the positions on a rotating 
basis. This is the year that New London has a vacancy for a resident representative.  He asked if anyone 
on the CAC is interested or knows someone who may be interested, to let the Selectmen know. 
 
The Board meets quarterly for about an hour and a half, to review budgeting for assessing services, 
staffing, allotment of time the assessors are spending in each Town and other administrative issues. It 
does allow face time with the assessor, but does not fill the Selectmen’s function of assessing, i.e., the 
Joint Board does not make decisions regarding abatements, etc.   
 
Roundabout:  Jessie Levine reported that progress is going smoothly.  There is a progress meeting every 
other Wednesday and that is attended by multiple entities including Water Precinct, Town and Hospital 
representatives, engineers and contractors.   
 
So far, work is on schedule. They are able to put in 150 to 200 feet of water line each day, and anticipate 
reaching the intersection by May 5.  The State has removed the pole for the blinking light there, and 
PSNH will put in new poles for utilities.  From the intersection they will continue the water line past the 
hospital. Then they will go back up, do the drainages, connections and the paving.  They anticipate 
beginning work on the actual round-about the first week of August.   
 
Noel Weinstein asked if the hospital is required to be part of the water line project. Jessie Levine said the 
water precinct required the hospital to upgrade its water main, and it made sense for the hospital to do it 
as part of this project and its own renovations rather than at some point in the future.   
 
Larry Ballin said they have completed the ledge borings, and have found some boulders and some ledge 
but that has been soft enough for them to work with easily. 
 
Vahan Sarkisian asked why not do the intersection first before traffic returns.  Jessie Levine said the water 
line has to be done first; that is the sequence of work they have to follow.  As the water line is completed, 
portions of the water line can be flushed, tested, and activated.  If the above ground portion of the project 
were completed first, the project would have to be re-dug if there were problems with the water main.  
This way, the water main can be put on-line and then the project can proceed above ground. 
 



Citizens’ Advisory Committee   Page 2 of 7 
April 26, 2008   
 
 

 

Howard Hoke asked if paving County Road will be done earlier than fall.  Larry Ballin said they will put 
at least a base coat on early, but may wait until some settling occurs before putting on the final coat.  He 
said that decision will be up to the engineers.  Vahan Sarkisian asked why it would not be up to the Town.  
Larry Ballin said actually it is, but they are deferring to the expertise of the engineers. Jessie Levine added 
that due to the rising cost of crude oil, the cost of paving roads is rising, and they would like paving 
decisions relevant to this project to fall under the contract (rather than be a separate decision by the Town 
and thus have to be paid separately by the Town).  
 
Vahan Sarkisian asked who is overseeing the work Larry Ballin said both the Water Precinct and the 
Town have engineers under contract. One or both are on site regularly, in addition to the Public Works 
Director. 
 
The only other bit of news to report relevant to this project is that after some back and forth, all parties 
including Hilltop (who made the original recommendation) have agreed to remove a large maple tree by 
County Road to allow the sidewalk to be built straight rather than curve around it. Though there are still 
some Hilltop residents who would like to save the maple, the rationale behind cutting it down is that with 
all the work in the area it is likely to die anyway, and may become a hazard.  Also, it is preferable to have 
a straight sidewalk rather than a curved one. Vahan Sarkisian expressed some slight disagreement with 
that; in New London, paths and roads are curvy.  Michael Doheny suggested that as an appeasement to 
the residents who will miss the tree, they could, upon completion of the project, plant two trees in its 
place.  Jessie Levine stated that was the plan. 
 
HB 1645 re: Changes to State’s Pension Plan: Mark Kaplan said that this bill includes such changes 
that, if it passes, New London’s contribution to the State retirement system will be $50,000.  If it does not 
pass -- that is, if the status quo continues -- the Town’s bill will be $260,000.  Selectmen explained that 
there are several changes proposed by this bill that are an effort to make the retirement system more 
affordable. Those include things like raising the retirement age for new fire department and police 
personnel, and adopting a better investment policy, perhaps by having investment experts on the Board.  
 
Jessie Levine explained that the New Hampshire Retirement System is run by a Board of Trustees which 
has historically consisted mainly of people with labor interests.  She said that only last year, did they get 
one town manager on the Board of Trustees. The State Treasurer also is on that Board.   
 
She said that the State law requires that employees pay 5% of the contribution to the retirement system, 
and the employers (i.e. taxpayers) pay the balance. In recent years, the Board of Trustees voted to put any 
investment earnings above 8% into a special account to cover health care subsidies and cost-of-living 
adjustments.  Now, some people on that Board are taking the position that it is a permanent benefit.  This 
decision and other trustees and legislative decisions have resulted in the retirement system being only 
63% funded.  They must make up $2.7-billion and if the current law remains unchanged that will be borne 
by the employers (i.e. taxpayers).  
 
Jessie Levine said the bill includes: 
 
(a) Raising the retirement age for group 1 employees—police and fire, from 20 years of service to 25 
years, or age 50.  She said the objection to that is that it would create two different categories of 
employees because the requirement would go towards new hires, not existing employees. 
 
(b) Cutting the number of employees on that Board of Trustees and replacing them with investment 
professionals. In response to question from this Committee, she said right now, they do hire some experts 
in investing but those experts are not ultimately part of the decision-making process. 



Citizens’ Advisory Committee   Page 3 of 7 
April 26, 2008   
 
 

 

 
(c) Eliminating the 8% escalator for the medical subsidies given to retirees. 
 
Noel Weinstein said there are always these kinds of problems with defined benefits plans, rather than 
defined contribution plans. He asked why the State does not switch now to a defined contributions 
system, offering a buy out option for those employees currently on the defined benefit system. Jessie 
Levine said that proposal, if even possible, would probably meet even more resistance than the current 
bill has received. 
 
Jack Harrod pointed out for benefit of the Citizens’ Advisory Committee today, that Selectmen have 
submitted letters to the editors regarding this bill and New London’s position specifically, and Larry 
Ballin added that they have also presented the Town’s position in writing at the recent Senate Committee 
hearing. He said Selectmen are in constant communication with Senator Bob Odell who does favor New 
London’s position at this point.  The bill has passed the House, and there will be one more Senate hearing 
on Monday at 1 p.m., and comments will be taken.  After that, the Senate will take the bill into executive 
session (people can attend that also, but at that point, no more comments will be taken).  The Senate 
Committee will vote on the bill on Wednesday, after which it will likely go to the Senate Finance 
Committee. 
 
Dave Payne pointed out that this is not unique to New Hampshire, but retirement systems have become 
unfunded liabilities across the states. Jessie Levine said there are 55 public retirement systems in the 
country (some states have more than one).  Only eight including New Hampshire’s allow retirement at 
age 45.   
 
Gary Markoff pointed out that this is an open wound which, given demographics, if not addressed, will 
get worse every year.  He pointed to the current drop in interest rates and the break down of the housing 
market as two things that must be factored in.  Referring to the composition of the retirement system’s 
Board of Trustees, he said there is no reason why the Towns should not have more of a voice. If that is 
denied, he suggested the possibility of litigation.  Jessie Levine said the New Hampshire Municipal 
Association, Association of Counties and Association of School Boards are on the verge of filing a 
lawsuit against the state because the State Constitution prohibits unfunded mandates (that is, laws that 
pass costs on to the towns).  She and the Selectmen urged Gary Markoff and anyone else interested to 
attend the hearing on Monday, and speak on the issue.  
 
Karen Hoglund asked what retirement cutoff date for benefits would do to New London.  Jessie Levine 
said the bill proposed to extend the cutoff date to July 1, 2009. She said New London only has three 
people who would be eligible to retire, and they are not planning to.  She clarified that is just among 
Town employees; the school district has a number of people who will be retiring this year.   
 
Senate Bill 539:  Mark Kaplan said that if this bill passes, the impact will be to recreate the system of 
donor towns including New London. For New London, the liability would be $900,000 per year.  He said 
Randy Foose is watching this closely and has proposed an amendment to the bill that would eliminate the 
donor town portion of it.  Larry Ballin added that New London is again contributing to the Portsmouth 
Coalition that is working to prevent rejuvenation of the donor town system.   
 
Middle School: Mark Kaplan said there will be a dedication of the new Middle School on Sunday May 4 
at 2 p.m.   
 
Noel Weinstein asked for a status report on the old middle school.  Jessie Levine said the newly redone 
gym and four of the classrooms of that old middle school are now available to the elementary school 



Citizens’ Advisory Committee   Page 4 of 7 
April 26, 2008   
 
 

 

during the day. After 3 p.m., the Outing Club leases the gym and the music room for $16 an hour paid to 
the district.  Larry Ballin added that they have also reseeded and resodded the playing fields out back, but 
those are not quite ready for use yet.   
 
Jessie Levine said that the district is looking for uses for other parts including the cafeteria, library and 
central school.  There is some consideration being given to moving the SAU offices to the former library 
and special ed space and selling the current office on Main Street.  Also, the Community Center group 
continues its plans to utilize the central school portion of the building.  Noel Weinstein asked about the 
group that was planning the Community Center on Pleasant Street. Jessie Levine said it is the same group.  
The swap for land on Pleasant Street that was approved at Town Meeting never occurred. 
 
She went on to say that the Fire Department has advised the school district of some fire safety problems 
with the old middle school building, specifically the need for a sprinkler system, and district 
administration will propose to the facilities committee a three-to-five year plan for sprinklering all the 
buildings district-wide.  She noted that this would be an expense for the district taxpayers, but it would 
make the question of who can use the building go away.   
 
Gary Markoff asked about the cost to heat the unused building. Larry Ballin said that is the district’s 
expense not the Town’s. Jessie Levine agreed that it is a concern that the district has.  The Community 
Center does not plan to move in until spring of 2009 and until then the costs of maintaining the building 
are borne by the district with minimal reimbursement by the New London Outing Culb. 
 
Vahan Sarkisian asked how long the elementary school will be there. Jessie Levine said there are no plans 
to move the elementary school from that location.  The middle school offers some potential for expansion 
of the elementary school.   
 
Dave Harrison asked if there are other health and safety issues. Jessie Levine said there are asbestos and 
air conditioning issues, but the sprinkler system is the most costly.   
 
Karen Hoglund asked if they can fix the problems now, why not keep it as a school.  Barbara Brown said 
it would cost $14 million to fix all that would allow it to be kept as a school.   
 
Budget:  Peter Bianchi asked if the Selectmen have any idea at this point what the tax rate will be, and 
how much surplus will be used to offset it.  He noted that the budget passed at Town Meeting means that 
with no offsetting amount from surplus, the tax rate would increase 17%. He said if $300,000 is used to 
offset taxes as it was last year, the tax rate will still go up—by 10%.  Jessie Levine said the audit has been 
done, but they do not have the results yet.  She said the surplus this year will not be as large as it was last 
year.   
 
She said the College has appealed its tax assessment and has not yet paid its full tax bill. It owes the 
Town $195,000. The College has indicated that it will pay that by May 9 to avoid having a lien put in 
place, even as it continues its appeal.  Peter Bianchi said it was his understanding that if a taxpayer 
appeals an assessment to the Board of Tax and Land Appeals, the tax bill must be paid.  Jessie Levine 
agreed, and clarified that the College filed its abatement request with the Town by March 1 as required. 
The Town has until July 1 to respond, and if it does not respond, it is to be understood that the abatement 
request is denied.  At that point, the College will have until September 1 to appeal to either the court or 
BTLA.  She said the College does intend to pay it with 12% interest before May 9 so it doesn’t go to a 
lien.   
 



Citizens’ Advisory Committee   Page 5 of 7 
April 26, 2008   
 
 

 

In response to a question about the Town Report, she and the Selectmen said they made a conscious 
decision to not print the list of delinquent taxpayers, given the difficult economy and the fact that people 
who usually do pay on time, are having difficulty this year.   
 
On the subject of the Town Report, Peter Bianchi observed that each warrant article finishes with a line 
stating the impact of that particular article on the tax rate. He suggested putting a total impact in the report 
as well. Jessie Levine noted that that number is included in the handout distributed at Town Meeting, but 
she agreed it could also be included in the Town Report.   
 
Bob MacMichael observed that years ago, things were simpler and arrangements to get the College’s 
taxes paid would have been more informal. Jessie Levine agreed, and said she did not mean to imply that 
the relationship between the Town and College does not remain good now.   
 
College: Mark Kaplan reported that the College enrollment is now at full capacity, and they have been 
before the Planning Board for approval to build additional dorm rooms (for 40 students) in the basements 
of the existing dorm buildings.  The question is, is the College going to have to build another residence 
hall?  The tough decision centers around whether or not enrollment will remain up in future years, while 
the demographics for that age group decline. Larry Ballin added that the Planning Board did approve the 
plan to go ahead with that construction, but noted that the college still will have to come up with a 
parking plan for those additional spaces.   
 
Dave Payne, who is on the building committee for the College, said they hope to have that done by 
September. He said enrollment is as high this year as ever.  As far as a new residence goes, he said there 
are a number of options including relocating Windy Hill (which currently occupies two buildings) and 
freeing up that space, or adding a pod to an existing building.   
 
Rip Cross referred to past comments by the College president indicating that the College wanted to 
maintain its current size.  Dave Payne agreed, the issue is that now more students want to live on campus.  
Signe Linville who graduated from Colby Sawyer in 2006, said that year there were only four or five off 
campus houses. Now there are fewer.  She said a lot of students would like to have lived off campus, but 
it was difficult to find landlords willing to rent to them.   
 
Back to Budget: Noel Weinstein asked what the interest is on uncollected taxes. Jessie Levine said it is 
12% until it goes to a lien. After that it is 18%.  After two years, the Town has the option of deeding a 
property.  She added that at the end of any given year, the uncollected taxes go against the surplus, not to 
next year’s taxes. If the Town loses an abatement appeal, it has to return the amount of tax in question 
with 6% interest.  She said that when they set the tax rate in October, they always put $100,000 aside for 
abatements.   
 
Selectmen noted that this is the first year in many that the Town will have to borrow on its line of credit, 
but as Mark Kaplan noted, cost of borrowing is more than offset by interest that will eventually be gained 
on those unpaid taxes.  Peter Bianchi asked how much the TAN will be. Jessie Levine said their line of 
credit is $250,000, noting that that was arranged way back in 1999 with 9% interest, and the Town has 
never needed it. She and the Selectmen said the Town will renegotiate that before borrowing this year.   
 
Gary Markoff asked how many properties are for sale in New London.  Jessie Levine said the Town has 
to file the list of actual sales with the State. She observed that New London’s assessments are at 89% of 
the sale prices now, and sale prices are 92% of list prices.   
 



Citizens’ Advisory Committee   Page 6 of 7 
April 26, 2008   
 
 

 

Gary Markoff asked what the total number of properties for sale is now, or more specifically, what is the 
dollar value of those.  Michael Doheny opined that there are probably about 70 properties on the market 
right now; that is up from 35 or 40 two years ago.  Karen Hoglund said she thought the number on the 
market now is more like 60.  Jessie Levine pointed out that properties are really staying on the market 
longer now.  In response to Gary Markoff’s question, she said there are 1800 residences in New London.   
 
Larry Ballin said the Town has received more requests for welfare assistance this year. Jessie Levine said 
that under state law, the Town is obliged to assist those who qualify.  Jessie Levine said the welfare 
budget has risen from $3000 to $8000.  This year they have seen an increase in property owners 
requesting assistance.  Law requires that if a property owner receives welfare, a lien is put on the 
property.  In response to question from the Committee, she said there is no fee for putting a lien on the 
property.  She went on to say that by comparison, Sunapee has spent $60,000 on welfare this year; 
Newbury has spent slightly less than New London. Howard Hoke asked if the Town has considered 
turning to agencies like the Rotary, Masons, Lions, and Odd Fellows. Those serve a number of 
communities around New London, and he even suggested the possibility that welfare funds could be 
channeled through one of them. 
 
Gary Markoff referred to the discussion at the last CAC meeting, and the fact that the State is cutting back 
on Medicaid payment to the hospitals due to, among other reasons, the decline in the real estate transfer 
tax revenue. He asked if the Town has a real estate transfer tax. Selectmen said the Town is not 
authorized to collect a real estate transfer tax.  That goes to the County and is split with the State.   
 
Upon further question, Jessie Levine said that the Town does receive some State funds mostly in the form 
of rooms & meals tax (the amount depends on the amount the Town generates) and highway block grants 
(though they understand that those are under some threat of being cut).  The Town also receives some 
State funding from motor vehicle and boat registrations, and various grants.   
 
Sewer: Howard Hoke asked for an update on the stormwater runoff issue, and the pumping station.  
Jessie Levine said they do not have flow numbers for this year yet.  She said the Sewer Department is 
fixing man holes, one by one.  Due to improvements that have been made, the amount of time the pump is 
running at the Edmunds Road station has declined.  She reminded the Committee that as part of the 
agreement with the Attorney General’s office, the Town is required to spend up to $50,000 on 
improvements. They have purchased a back up pump for the Georges Mills pump station.   
 
Mark Kaplan said an on-going bone of contention at the Joint Sewer Department meetings in Sunapee is 
that Sunapee reads a different type of flow meter than New London does, and though both meters have 
been recalibrated, the numbers are always different. There is now a suggestion that the two Towns simply 
agree on a percentage that New London will pay, thus eliminating this as a discussion topic at every 
meeting.  Jessie Levine confirmed that if both Towns agree, the inter-municipal agreement could be 
modified to replace meter reading with a specific agreed-upon percentage number.   
 
Town Land: Gary Markoff opened some discussion of the Clark Pond land purchase warrant article that 
passed at Town Meeting. Larry Ballin said he has attended a recent Conservation Commission meeting.  
He said that everyone agrees that in the future, Selectmen and/or Budget Committee will have more of a 
presence at those meetings during which financial matters are on the table, and that in the future there will 
be at least two appraisals—perhaps one paid for by the Town, and one by the owner.  The concern about 
asking for a second appraisal for the Clark Pond land at this point in time, was that it may come in higher, 
or if it does not, the owner may decide to walk away from the deal, thus denying the wishes of Town 
meeting voters.  So the price for that that land will be $245,000, the cost of survey $8000 and legal fees 
about $2000.  The balance of the $275,000 will remain in the Conservation Land reserve.   



Citizens’ Advisory Committee   Page 7 of 7 
April 26, 2008   
 
 

 

 
Jessie Levine said the Town does not really own that much land. The land it does own is conservation, 
public buildings, rights of way or beaches. The Town does not own any potential house lots.   
 
Mark Kaplan said that in the past, the Town has obtained land through gifts or purchases with financial 
donations, with taxpayer money being used only at the very end to make up any balance.   
 
Ann Loeffler suggested that at Town Meeting, the Conservation Commission could have made a more 
clear presentation of its priorities.  Selectmen agreed and Mark Kaplan pointed out that the Master Plan 
does include a list of priority properties and the Conservation Commission’s rationale is that we have 
known about these for years.  Ann Loeffler expressed concern that if an even more desirable property (on 
or off that list) comes on the market, the reserve will have been depleted. Selectmen agreed, noting that 
the Clark Pond property was not very high on the priority list. 
 
Brian Prescott expressed the opinion that the Conservation Commission could have used some of its 
reserve to help in the purchase of the Inn land next door to this building.  Jessie Levine said the 
Commission does not consider that conservation land particularly as some of it may be used for parking 
in the future.  
 
Gary Markoff said his opinion changed during the presentation that the Town should purchase the Clark 
Pond land because it fits into a puzzle of other conservation parcels. Also, he objects to the comment that 
this will not affect this year’s tax rate.  He pointed out that by bringing down the reserve, it will affect that 
fund which will have to be replenished.  This year, they allocated $50,000 to be deposited into the 
Conservation land reserve.   
 
Jessie Levine gave the CAC a heads up on the possibility of more discussion down the road regarding the 
Town purchasing properties.  She said the point on Pleasant Lake is for sale, and so is the Riggs property 
on Lake Sunapee. The question is being raised about whether or not the Town should start acquiring land 
for expansion of its beaches.   
 

Other: 

 

o Dave Payne asked about the seemingly abandoned vehicles sitting at a particular house on Main 
Street.  Jessie Levine said that is still owned by an estate and the family does not intend to sell the 
property though they have been told that the law does not allow more than two unregistered, unfit to 
drive, vehicles in a single yard.   

 
o Rip Cross asked if there is a policy on roadside memorials.  Jessie Levine said no, most of those are 

on the State’s right of way.   
 
Meeting adjourned at 9:10 am. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
 
Sarah A. Denz 
Recording Secretary 
 


